## RECEIVED

02-12-2015

# CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2014AP002614-CR, 2014AP002615-CR, 2014AP002616-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GREGORY TYSON BELOW,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Kevin E. Martens, Presiding, and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner, Presiding.

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

HANNAH SCHIEBER JURSS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1081221

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the circuit court err in consolidating the charges and denying the motion for severance, such that Below had only one trial for over forty charges alleging assaults against nine different women for a span of over five years?

The circuit court consolidated these matters for trial over defense objection and motion for severance. The circuit court denied Below's post-conviction motion for new, separate trials.

2. Below's attorneys failed to object to: (A) hearsay statements which improperly bolstered the women's accounts of assault; (B) the admission of testimony about Below's rumored HIV status; and (C) repeated references to the women as "victims," while even making such references themselves. Was Below denied the effective assistance of counsel?

The circuit court denied Below's post-conviction motion without a *Machner* hearing.

3. Did the circuit court err in denying the motion to suppress evidence obtained from the search warrant for, among other things, Below's DNA?

The circuit court denied the pre-trial motion to suppress evidence derived from the search warrant.

4. Did the circuit court err in denying defense counsel's request for an *in camera* review of Cynthia R.'s treatment records from the date she

# first accused her live-in boyfriend, Below, of assaulting her?

The circuit court denied the defense request for an *in* camera review of these records, and denied Below's post-conviction motion for this *in camera* review.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Below believes oral argument will assist this Court in assessing the many issues presented in these cases, which involved a multiple-week trial. He does not seek publication.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

The State charged Below with over fifty counts alleging acts against ten different women over a period of over five years. (2;14AP2614:2;14AP2615:4). The majority charged First or Second Degree Sexual Assault, Strangulation/Suffocation, and Kidnapping. (2;14AP2614:2; 14AP2615:4). The State tried over forty counts for alleged acts against nine women. (59;App.177-86). Over defense objection, the State tried all of these counts in one multipleweek trial. (122:56;129-162).

#### A. Pre-trial motions.

Below was arrested on February 10, 2010 for an unrelated child sexual assault. (14AP2615:11;122:57-53).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, all cites reference the record in 2014AP2616-CR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, Below refers to the Second Consolidated Amended Information, included in the Appendix, when referencing specific counts.

Police soon determined that he was not a suspect in that case. (149:68). On the date of his arrest, his girlfriend, Cynthia R.<sup>3</sup>, alleged that he had assaulted her and was taken to a mental health center. (*see* 14AP2614:117:55-66).

Police obtained a search warrant for, among other things, Below's DNA. (14AP2615:14-16). The defense filed a motion to suppress evidence obtained from the warrant on grounds that the warrant failed to sufficiently link Below to the suspected crimes. (14AP2615:14-16).<sup>4</sup> The court denied this motion, concluding that the affidavit established "fair linkages" to Below. (122:19-22;App.159-62).

Counsel moved for *in camera* review of Cynthia's treatment records from the date she first accused Below. (14AP2614:6-7).<sup>5</sup> The court denied the motion: "[T]he facts here are simply saying that because she must have discussed something that that something may be probative and that doesn't meet the *Shiffra/Green* standard." (14AP2614:117:66-68;App.164-66). Counsel filed a pre-trial motion to preclude reference to the women as "victims," which the court granted. (14AP2614:50;127:26).

#### B. The trial

The State called over forty witnesses, including all nine women. (129-162). Among those, the State called a "strangulation" expert, who testified that strangulation may affect the ability to recall events immediately afterwards. (150:74-129;151:4-18). The State called a "victimology"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Below does not use the women's last names for privacy purposes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Two attorneys represented Below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Trial counsel also sought records from the timeframe of her alleged assaults. Below does not renew that request.

expert, who stated that certain victims may struggle to sequence events, and further explained why domestic abuse crimes may not be reported. (152:104-26;153:4-29).

Below testified that he did not have sex with Amanda V., but had consensual sex with the other women. (154:56-139;155:4-113; 156:4-23).

After resting, the State moved to dismiss four counts due to insufficient evidence. (153:48-57). The jury found Below guilty of twenty-nine counts and not guilty of twelve. (162;64). The jury found him not guilty of all counts related to Sherylyn M., five counts related to Janet O., two counts related to Cristina A., and one count related to Leeland R. (162:64).

C. Summary of the evidence presented concerning each woman's allegations.

#### i. Janet O.

The State tried ten charges involving Janet. (59;App.177-86). The State dismissed two after testimony. (153:48-50). The jury found Below guilty of three charges and not guilty of the other five. (64).

Janet testified that Below attacked her from 2004 to 2005, during which time she used crack cocaine and stayed in a drug house. (135:97-108;136:3-81). She testified that:

(1) In 2004, he punched her and she lost consciousness. She woke up naked and believed he had sex

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The State dismissed Counts 8 and 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The jury found him guilty of Counts 1, 2, and 10 and not guilty of Counts 3-7.

with her; police were called, but they did not show up, and she did not call back. (135:100-106;136:46,69-70).

- (2) The same month, someone approached her from behind in the basement and choked her until she lost consciousness. She woke up naked and bleeding, and believed her attacker, whom she did not see, had ejaculated inside of her. She called police again; they came but did not take her to the hospital or station and she did not contact them again about this. (136:4-10;49-50).
- (3) The next day, Below attacked her in an alley and pulled her into the loft behind the house, where he kept her for three days, choking and raping her. She escaped when he fell asleep. (136:10-20).
- (4) She returned to the house and smoked crack for days. Below came, and when she refused sex, he poured lighter fluid on her and threatened to light her on fire. This ended when her brother knocked on the door; she never told others at the house about this and did not go to the hospital. (136:20-24;32-33;60-64).
- (5) In January 2005, she came back to smoke crack, and Below was there. He hit her with a piece of wood, injuring her head, and attacked her brother. He dug his fingers into her wound, and cut her hair with a knife. She identified pictures from this alleged incident. (136:24-29;57-60).

An officer testified that police responded on January 20th and saw pools of blood, a clump of hair, and knives; further, that Janet had a large laceration to her skull. (135:36-51). The homeowner testified that he saw Below hit Janet with a wood board, and denied that he told police that he had not seen this. (135:57-65;71-73). He testified that Below pulled and cut off pieces of her hair, and that her brother tried

to stop the attack. (135:57-65). Prior to this, Below was with Janet at his house about once a week. (135:69). He testified to other incidents in which Below choked and threatened Janet; however, he never called police before January 20th. (135:65-68). He acknowledged being convicted of a crime twice, and that he and others, including Janet, used crack. (135:66,70).

Another man who lived there testified that though he did not see Janet get hit on January 20th, Below was responsible. (135:83-86). He testified to other times where he saw Below assault and threaten Janet. (135:86-88,91-92,94-95). He acknowledged having been convicted of four crimes, having used drugs at the time, and having never called the police about any of this. (135:87-88). He stated that Janet was using drugs at the time. (135:87-90).

Janet's brother testified that Below attacked them during the January 2005 incident. (136:85-90). The State admitted medical records reflecting Janet's head injury from January of 2005. (136:91;142:4-5).

Though Janet denied it, a detective testified that when he responded in January 2005, Janet said that she would call Below whenever she needed sex. (136:56;147:162-72). Janet acknowledged that she got drugs from Below the "first time" she "had sex with him." (136:47).

She testified that she talked with a friend in May 2009, who contacted Detective Carloni. (136:43). Police noted that she years later, provided additional disclosures which she had not originally reported. (151:67). She had not before disclosed anything other than the January incident. (152:47-50). Janet acknowledged being convicted of one crime. (136:38).

Below testified that he met Janet in 2004; he gave her cocaine in exchange for sex. (155:40-50). People at the house would call police on him if he did not provide them with drugs. (155:48-50). He witnessed another person hit Janet with a railing. (155:50-55).

#### ii. Michele M.

The State tried twelve counts involving Michele. (59;App.177-86). The State dismissed two after testimony. (153:50-57). The jury found Below guilty of all remaining counts. (64). Post-conviction, the court agreed to vacate Count 15 (Substantial Battery from March 2007) on double jeopardy grounds. (119;App.116-20).

Michele testified that she and Below began a multipleyear relationship in 2006, which started with consensual sex and involved crack cocaine use. (136:94-99;137:29,69,71,97). She testified that:

- (1) Below held her at Faye's bar and had vaginal and oral sex with her repeatedly without consent; at one point, he put his arm around her neck and choked her while trying to have sex. She eventually got away and went to her sister's house. He found her and she returned to the bar because she was afraid. Her family came to the bar at times, including once where her legs were bleeding because Below hit her with a pole. (137:37-46).
- (2) Another time (three to four years before trial), he tied her to the bed and poured rubbing alcohol on her. He had a match, but did not use it. She went along with sex out of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The State dismissed Counts 13 and 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Counts 11-12, 14-19, and 44-45

fear, and did not call the police. (136:95-99;137:7-16,29-30,62-63,78-80).

- (3) Below drove her to a friend's house. She asked him to leave, he said no, and dragged her through the hall while punching and strangling her in a chokehold, causing her to lose consciousness. That evening, he beat her up, hit her with a pole, had her take off her clothes and cut off her hair. The same day, he had anal sex with her and inserted a beer bottle in her anus without consent. (137;16-24,61-62,90-94).
- (4) Days later, they took a bus to a neighborhood where he wanted her to engage in prostitution. She flagged down police to get away. She admitted using a fake name because she had an outstanding warrant. Below called and told police her real name. Police took her to the hospital. Photographs were admitted into evidence showing her at the hospital. (137:24-37;138:16-17,76-78).
- (5) She ran into Below after she was released from prison in 2009. He grabbed her and took her to his van and forced vaginal and oral sex. (137:47-53).

Juan Trevino, convicted of a crime three times, testified that in 2009, he and Michele had an altercation with Below, but he did not call police. (139:25-81). He never before saw Below be violent. (139:32). He first gave a television interview and then, over six months after this incident, spoke with police. (139:59-60). He admitted that he falsely told detectives that he saw Below punch Michele in the face, and kick and drag her. (139:62-65;78-81).

Michele's sister, Shelley, testified that she picked up Michele from Faye's and saw Michelle's pants covered in blood and bruises around her neck. (139:82-88,91-92;102-09). She did not call police or seek medical attention because

Michele refused. (139:108-109). She did call police once in 2006 and police found Michele hiding under a bed at Faye's "because she had a warrant for her arrest." (139:119). Shelley testified that Michele expressed fear of Below and told her that he threatened to start her on fire. (139:88-89,92-93). Shelley testified that she saw Below punch and kick Michele at a hotel, and on other occasions she saw Below drag Michele. (139:89-90,94-95,100-01,111-18).

Glenn Steiner, who has a child with Michele, testified that in 2005 Michele told him that Below beat her and cut off her hair. He saw her with bruises, and Michele told him that Below would make her prostitute. Michele never told him that Below sexually assaulted her, and he never saw Below be violent with Michele. The first time he ever spoke to police about this was in August 2010. (140:19-34).

Michele acknowledged that she and Below wrote loving letters to each other while she was in prison, most of which were admitted into evidence. (138:17-61;165:16-40). These letters included her writing, "I miss you so much" and "I love you." (138:42,51). She said she did so because she was scared; however, she never applied for a restraining order against him. (138:17,45). She acknowledged being confused over the dates of when these alleged acts occurred. (138:13;64-65,83-85;139:13-19).

When asked when she first told anybody about the "sexual assault or the confinement by rope or being threatened with a flammable materials or a match," she answered that she briefly mentioned this to her family, but did not say that she had been sexually assaulted. (137:84-85). "The first time I ever told anybody about any of this that happened to me is when I talked to the detective," within the year before the trial. (137:84). She was on probation during

this timeframe, but never told her probation agent about this. (137:97). She admitted being convicted of eight crimes. (138:8).

Below stated that he and Michele had consensual sex during their relationship. (155:4-16). He did call the police on her in March of 2007. (155:16). He sold crack and she prostituted, and he was upset when she left with the police because she had the drugs. (155:16-21). Their sexual relationship continued through 2010. (155:21-23).

#### iii. Sherylyn M.

The State tried four charges involving Sherylyn, and the jury found Below not guilty on all counts. (59;64;App.177-86).<sup>10</sup>

Sherylyn testified that Below approached her in September 2006 and insisted she come in his blue van. (140:35-54;110-26). She knew him from the area and testified that everybody said he "beats up women." (140:36). She testified that he took her to an alley and threatened to hurt her if she did not undress. (140:36-40). He got out to urinate, and she ran away and up the stairs of a home. (140:40-45). He followed her and punched and kicked her repeatedly on the stairs, pulled her down the stairs by her pants, and she wet her pants. (140:44-54,92). She identified a picture of herself with bruises, which she said were caused by Below. (140:47-50).

She stated that the next day, he came to her friend's house and beat her again. (140:55-58,92-93;126-31). Two days later, he again confronted her. (140:58-63,93-94;131-40;141:23-26). She first testified that he jumped out only after she came out of a friend's house, but then testified that she

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Counts 21-24

saw him before entering the house. (140:58-63,93-94;131-40;141:24-25). She stated that he jumped out of a sedan with a gun and ordered her into the car. He took her to Faye's bar, locked her in a room for days, and sexually assaulted her repeatedly. (140:67-83,92-102;141:26-35). She stated that she was scared and went along with having sex, though she told him to stop. (140:67-74). At one point he asked if she wanted food, let her out, and she "believe[s] that she was dropped off by a friend named Superman" after she asked for a ride home (140:74-76;141:35-48). She later testified that Below drove her home with "Superman." (140:102).

She stated that she contacted police after the first incidents, but nothing happened, and she did not contact police after being held at Faye's. (140:102-06; see also 151:73 (reflecting two filed reports in 2006)). She stated she went to the hospital at one point but left because she was "tired of waiting." (140:107-108). With regards to the first instances, she said charges were brought but dismissed because she did not know when to come to court. (140:102-06). She did not do anything else until four years later when she saw allegations on television. (140:106-107;141:18-21). Prior to July 2010, she had not told anyone about him holding her captive in a room. (141:19-20).

Sherylyn acknowledged telling police that Below brandished a two-foot knife in the van, but testified it "could have been a gun" or "anything." (140:111-115). She previously testified that Below did not force her into the van, but befriended her. (141:14). She admitted to one prior conviction, but denied telling police that her bruising resulted from an unrelated incident or that she declined medical attention. (140:108;123). She admitted being a crack user in 2006, but stated that she did not use drugs with Below. (140:15-17;141:50-51,60-61).

The homeowner testified that in September 2006, she saw a man and woman argue in her driveway. The woman asked to use her phone and called someone (not the police), who did not answer. The woman came up the stairs; the man hit her, grabbed her hair, and said she stole money from him. The woman did not ask for help; however, the homeowner called the police as the man was beating her. (141:68-88).

Police noted that Sherylyn did not report being driven home from Faye's nor talking with others in the bar, and that the homeowner never reported that Sherylyn's pants were down or that she urinated. (152:59-62).

Below testified that he and Sherylyn had consensual sex regularly for a few months in exchange for drugs. (155:56-77). He saw another friend physically assault Sherylyn. (155:65).

#### iv. Lisa W.

The State tried three counts related to Lisa, and the jury found Below guilty of all three. (59;64;App.177-86).<sup>11</sup>

Lisa testified that in June 2009, Below, a stranger, offered her money to perform a sex act. (141:90-116). She agreed, but he grabbed her throat and took her to an abandoned building, where he choked her and caused her to lose consciousness repeatedly. (141:91-116;142:12-18). She stated that he had oral and vaginal sex with her. (141:97-116;121-22). Months later, she confronted Below and he denied assaulting her. (142:26-29). She explained that a year after her alleged assault, a woman named Amanda, whom she sold drugs to, said that Below also raped her. (141:119-20;142:35-37).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Counts 25-27

She testified that she reported the assault the same day it occurred; however, she lied and said she was not involved with prostitution. (141:116;142:19-25). She also did not originally tell police that he choked her repeatedly. (142:24). Nothing happened after her initial report until she again contacted police after her boyfriend, who was facing prison time, saw information about Below on the news in 2010. (141:120-21;142:9-12). She too was facing a charge, but was not given consideration for testifying. (142:33,40-41). She acknowledged being convicted of one crime and that she was crack at the time, including Below. (141:118;142:30-31,35).

Below testified that he met Lisa in 2009, and that she had consensual sex with him in exchange for money. (155:78-84).

#### v. Amanda V.

The State tried three charges involving Amanda<sup>12</sup>, and the jury found Below guilty of all three. (59;64;App.177-86).<sup>13</sup>

Amanda testified that in October 2008, she went to Club 24 and was drinking and using crack cocaine. (142:51-52,87-88). She saw Below, whom she knew casually, and he asked if she could get him crack. (142:51-52,88-89). After failing to find drugs, he took her to an apartment. (142:52,90). She stated that he locked the door and demanded she undress. (142:52-53,90-93). She testified that he hit her, ripped her pants off, threatened to kill her, put her in a chokehold and

<sup>12</sup> The charging documents erroneously referred to Amanda V. as AF. (*See* 2014AP2615: 8:6). At times during trial she was referred to as Amanda L. (*See*, e.g., 143:3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Counts 28-30

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