RECEIVED

06-22-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Nos. 2014AP2614-CR, 2014AP2615-CR & 2014AP2616-CR (Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case Nos. 2010CF707, 2010CF3272 & 2010CF4684)

STATE OF WISCONSIN.

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GREGORY TYSON BELOW,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KEVIN E. MARTENS AND JEFFREY A. WAGNER PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER G. WREN Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1013313

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

In addition, the jury convicted Below of one felony count of soliciting prostitutes (59:4; 64:18; 162:11 (Count 18)).

The jury also acquitted Below of twelve counts: five of eight counts concerning J.O. (64:3-7), all four counts concerning S.M. (64:21-24),¹¹ two of four counts concerning C.A. (64:31, 33), and one of three counts concerning L.R. (64:41).

B. Because The Crimes Alleged Against Below Satisfied The Criteria For Joinder And, After Joinder, Did Not Pose A Risk Of Substantial Prejudice To Below, The Circuit Court Did Not Erroneously Exercise Its Discretion By Denying Below's Motion To Sever.

In framing his argument on the circuit court's alleged error in denying his motion to sever, Below agrees with the circuit court that "the core issue here is the issue of prejudice." Below's Brief at 27 (citing 122:70). Consequently, Below "focuses his challenge on the substantial prejudice of trying these charges together." *Id.* He seeks remand "for separate trials for each of the eight women whose charges resulted in guilty verdicts." *Id.* at 29.

As the Wisconsin Supreme Court wrote more than thirty-five years ago, "The joinder and severance of defendants in a criminal case is governed by sec. 971.12(2), (3), and (4), Stats.," with "questions of consolidation or severance [residing] within the trial court's discretion." *Haldane*, 85 Wis. 2d at 188-89. Wisconsin's joinder statute does not identify prejudice as a factor in determining whether to allow joinder, *see* Wis. Stat.

¹¹ See also (59:5-6; 140:34-144; 141:9-66).

§ 971.12(1); rather, prejudice arises as a factor in deciding whether to grant relief from joinder, see Wis. Stat. § 971.12(3).

In seeking consolidation, the prosecutor submitted a motion explaining in detail (both verbally and graphically) how consolidation satisfied joinder criteria:

- ➤ conduct reflecting a modus operandi "reveal[ing] the defendant's overarching plan and motive with respect to each course of assaultive conduct" (2615CR:8:11) isolation and confinement for purposes of committing sexual assault (2615CR:8:11-12); strangulation, beating, and stalking of victims (2615CR:8:12-14)
- ➤ identity or similarity of the acts committed by Below (2615CR:8:16-17)
- > conduct committed within a relatively short time frame (2615CR:8:17-18)
- > conduct occurring within a relatively small geographic area (2615CR:8:18-19)
- ➤ in accord with *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998), evidence in each case admissible in separate trials as other-acts evidence (2615CR:8:20-22)

The prosecutor also presented a pre-emptive argument that joinder would not cause impermissible prejudice (2615CR:8:20-23).

At the pretrial motion hearing (122), the circuit court acknowledged the parties' "extensive briefing" (122:33). After hearing argument from the

(122:34-48) and defense prosecutor counsel (122:48-75), the court granted the prosecutor's consolidation motion and denied Below's severance motion. The court identified the correct legal standards (122:57-59) and then engaged in a detailed analysis of the facts (necessarily derived from the criminal complaints) (122:59-64). Finally, the court evaluated those facts in terms of the standards for allowing joinder (122:64-70, 72-73). Based on its factual and legal analysis, the court granted the motion to consolidate (122:73). Under the standards for exercising discretion (pp. 7-8, above), the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when the court granted the consolidation motion.

In denying Below's motion to sever, the court assessed potential prejudice from consolidation and did not find any undue (*i.e.*, substantial) prejudice:

I think really ultimately the core issue here is the issue of prejudice, whether there is prejudicial affect on the defendant or whether it jeopardizes the right to a fair trial under 904.03 or for other reasons recognized in the case law as precluding joinder.

Under 904.03, I don't find there to be undue prejudice. At least on some issues identification as I understand from what I already heard there are obviously identifications made by victims. So it's not necessarily linking the sort of the MO or the method of assault as using as a sole basis to identify Mr. Below as the assailant with respect to any particular alleged victim.

I guess what the defense argues is the accumulation of cases; that is, multiple alleged victims' reports and the affect that that might have on a jury that is perhaps if believing not any one alleged vic-

tim sort of in the totality of hearing multiple reports perhaps than giving more credence.

I'm not satisfied that that is problematic certainly at this point. The court certainly will give appropriate instructions if requested as relates to the limits of other acts evidence and what the purpose of that might be, number one.

Number two, obviously there's some lesser concerns given that the other acts that are really also separately charged incidents as well or separately charged counts.

There's no arguments or other indications to the court that there are issues involving the need to present a defense to any particular count and how that need may then unduly restrain the defense from providing a full and accurate defense or full and complete defense of each alleged count; that is, again issues involving the defendant testifying as to perhaps some allegations but not others. Those haven't been raised at this point.

Indeed even if so, they still would need to be balanced against the other reasons that why consolidation again is to be viewed more broadly.

(122:70-72.) Again, under the standards for exercising discretion (pp. 7-8, above), the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when the court denied Below's severance motion.

On appeal, Below offers only a perfunctory argument that the court erred at the time the court decided the motions: "Simply put, these charges were exceptional—exceptional in the number of counts, the number of alleged victims, and the over five-year time frame of events. These factors alone created the unreasonable risk that the jury would convict Below for counts it would not have in separate trials." Below's Brief at 27. Instead, his argument about prejudice relies on his as-

sessment of prejudice flowing from the purported strength or weakness of evidence produced at trial. *See id.* at 27-29.

But a circuit court cannot decide a pretrial motion by speculating or attempting to foresee the quantity or quality of evidence the parties will introduce at trial. The court can only rely on the nature of the charges and the factual allegations in the criminal complaints. Here, Below has not offered this court any significant argument that the circuit court — at the time of deciding the pretrial consolidation and severance motions — erroneously exercised discretion in light of the available record.

In any event, Below's argument suffers from a fatal flaw: ignoring the use of other-acts evidence in eight individual trials. Although Below cites *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, for the three-part analysis a circuit court uses to decide whether to admit other-acts evidence, *see* Below's Brief at 26, he does not offer any argument rebutting the prosecutor's contention in the circuit court that "evidence from each incident would be admissible at separate trial of every other, so there can clearly be no prejudice to a joint trial" (2615CR:8:23; *see also* 122:43). The Wisconsin Supreme Court has made this point clear:

[W]e have consistently recognized that when evidence of both counts would be admissible in separate trials, the risk of prejudice arising due to a joinder of offenses is generally not significant. The simple logic behind this rule is that when evidence of one crime is relevant and material to the proof of a second crime, virtually identical evidence will be submitted

to the jury whether or not one crime or both crimes are being tried.

State v. Bettinger, 100 Wis. 2d 691, 697, 303 N.W.2d 585 (1981) (citations omitted). See also Peters v. State, 70 Wis. 2d 22, 29-32, 233 N.W.2d 420 (1975).

Below's examples of purported prejudice fail to prove the joinder caused him substantial prejudice. See Below's Brief at 27-29. Essentially, Below speculates rather than proves. He asserts that hospital records of three victims "could have easily affected the jury's consideration of the allegations involving the others." *Id.* at 27 (emphasis added). ¹² Moreover, the jury's acquittal of Below of twelve counts affecting four victims — including acquittals relating to two of the victims whose medical records he highlights (J.O. and C.A.) — shows that medical records did not impermissibly prejudice the jury: where the jury acquitted Below of offenses concerning victims to whom the medical records directly related, Below cannot sensibly contend that those records would have contributed to convictions for offenses against victims to whom those records did not relate at all. 13

Below also points to "real credibility problems" of many of the victims. Below's Brief at 27. His

He fails to note that he stipulated to the admission of the medical records of two of the three victims (142:4-6 (J.O.); 146:3-5 (C.R.); 156:127-29 (jury instructions)).

¹³ Below fails to note — or to object — that the State presented medical records for other victims as well (165:Ex. 76 (G.L.); 165:Ex. 79 (L.R.)).

claim amounts to asking this court to re-assess the credibility of witnesses even though the jury had full awareness of credibility issues. For instance, M.M. testified on direct examination that "I'm not good with remembering a lot of dates or when it happened" (137:46). On cross-examination, defense counsel had her reiterate that testimony (137:65 ("I don't have a good memory when it comes to dates.")). In closing argument, defense counsel called the jury's attention to credibility issues regarding the State's witnesses (158:11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 56, 64, 71, 77). The jury's acquittal of Below on twelve of forty-one counts shows that the jurors carefully assessed the evidence — including witnesses' credibility — in reaching the verdicts.

Below's example of purported prejudice "damning photographs" of a black eye and bruising on M.M. that supposedly infected the jury's verdict convicting Below of one of three charges of substantial battery against J.O., see Below's Brief at 28 — omits a significant point: the jury also saw far more "damning photographs" (162:Ex. 2, at 9-11) showing J.O.'s bloody scalp (136:27-30 (J.O. testifying about Exhibit 2)). Despite those photos, the jury acquitted Below of five of eight counts involving J.O. The notion that the photos of a bruised M.M. led to a substantial-battery conviction relating to J.O. when far more "damning photographs" of J.O. herself did not prevent the jury from acquitting Below of two charges of substantial battery against J.O. highlights the meritlessness of Below's prejudice assertions.

The jury did its job: the jurors carefully evaluated the evidence bearing on each charge and did

not allow evidence bearing on any given charge to contaminate the decisions on other charges, as the jury's numerous acquittals show (highlighted by the acquittals on charges concerning J.O. despite the literally bloody photos of her head wounds).

In short, the circuit court's decision to deny Below's severance motion did not result in any discernible prejudice — much less "substantial prejudice" — to Below.

- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DENIED BELOW'S MULTIPLE CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL.
 - A. Below's Two Defense Lawyers Did Not Provide Ineffective Assistance By Refraining From Objecting To The Instances Of Alleged Hearsay Identified By Below.

In his postconviction motion, Below alleged that defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to an array of hearsay statements (106:4-8). The circuit court denied this ineffective-assistance claim:

The defendant contends that trial counsel failed to object to multiple hearsay statements which he claims bolstered the women's accounts. Several examples are set forth in the defendant's motion at pages 4-7.

. . . .

The defendant sets forth approximately eighteen instances of hearsay statements that he claims counsel should have objected to. The State responds that the statements made by the witnesses constituted exceptions to the hearsay rule. The court is in general agreement with the State's analysis of the issues presented, and to the extent that counsel

probably should have objected on hearsay grounds, the court finds that the defendant's case was not prejudiced based on the other evidence elicited corroborating what had occurred, including the victims' testimony and the defendant's own testimony.

(119:2-3.) On appeal, he reasserts this ineffective-assistance claim. Below's Brief at 30-35.

Under *Strickland*'s two-part test for assessing counsel's constitutional effectiveness (pp. 12-14, above), defense counsel provided constitutionally effective assistance. Because the statements qualified either as nonhearsay¹⁴ or as hearsay exceptions, ¹⁵ counsel did not perform deficiently by not objecting. But even if counsel should have objected, Below did not incur any prejudice from the deficiency.

In the circuit court, the prosecutor offered a comprehensive response to the hearsay claim:

Shelly M.'s testimony that MM was scared [139:88] was admissible under both § 908.03(2) and (3), given that it was a statement about MM's state of mind and MM was still bloody and "in shock." [139:86][16]

Before Shelly M. testified, M.M. testified that Below "poured rubbing alcohol on me and he threatened to set me on fire" (137:8; *see also* 137:10, 62) and that she later managed to flag down a police car "because [she] was trying to

(footnote continues on next page)

¹⁴ WIS. STAT. § 908.01(3).

¹⁵ Wis. Stat. § 908.03.

¹⁶ In other references to M.M. as "scared," Shelly M. testified to her personal observation of M.M.'s condition, not to statements by M.M. (139:86, 88).

Also, the Defendant was not prejudiced by her testimony regarding the Defendant beating and cutting MM's as Shelly M. testified to multiple instances when she observed the Defendant assault MM [139:89-91]. Glen Steiner's testimony [140:21-22] was admissible under § 908.03(2) and as non-hearsay, as it was offered to show how it initiated the investigation regarding MM. Similarly, Detective Carloni's testimony [151:76] was non-hearsay, as it was offered to show how law enforcement investigated and linked all of the cases together.

Additionally, SM's testimony [140:36], although not directly elicited, was non-hearsay as the State's follow-up question shows that the statement was used to show its effect on SM [140:36-37]. Moreover, as with all of the statements, the testimony was not prejudicial inasmuch SM testified to the Defendant's brutal physical and sexual assault [e.g., 140:40-41, 44-45]. Further, the jury acquitted the Defendant of the counts pertaining to SM [64:21-24; 162:11-12], thus her statements did not prejudice the Defendant.

Also, LW's, Mark Ceplina's, and CA's testimonies were not hearsay by definition. The record shows that LW's testimony was offered to explain why she disclosed to A[] [141:119; 142:37].¹⁷ The record also

(footnote continues from previous page)

get away from [Below]" (137:32). Thus, Shelly's testimony about the threat and the police, *see* Below's Brief at 30, merely repeated testimony by M.M. and concerned an event about which defense counsel cross-examined her (137:79).

¹⁷ In addition, defense counsel — not the prosecutor — specifically asked L.W. what else A.V. told her (142:37). Below cannot properly complain about alleged hearsay his lawyer deliberately and explicitly elicited in seeking information about how L.W. came to disclose to A.V. that Below raped her. *Cf. Shawn B.N. v. State*, 173 Wis. 2d 343, 372, 497 N.W.2d 141 (Ct. App. 1992) ("We will not review invited error.").

shows that Mr. Ceplina's testimony was offered to explain why he approached the Defendant, and explain the effect on the Defendant, who made a party-opponent statement admissible under § 908.01(4)(b)(l).[18] CA's testimony was not offered to prove that the Defendant assaulted AV, but was offered to explain AV's conduct (visiting CA in the hospital) [143:109-10]. Further, the testimony was not so prejudicial where CA stated that she did not believe AV's allegations [143:109].

Officer Court's testimony [146:33-34] was admissible under § 908.03(3). *See Jackson*, 187 Wis.2d at 435-36.^[19] Furthermore, it was not so prejudicial

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